Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-5-2012

Bank of Commerce v. Jefferson Enterprises Appellant's Brief Dckt. 40034

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

A. Nature of the Case

This is a case brought by the Bank of Commerce (hereinafter referred to as "Bank"), to foreclose real estate mortgages against Appellant, Jefferson Enterprises, LLC, (hereinafter "Jefferson"). The case before this Court is an appeal from the decision of the District Court granting the Bank's Motion for Summary Judgment dismissing Jefferson's Counterclaims. Jefferson's counterclaim and affirmative defenses raise factual issues based upon breach of contract, interference with a prospective contract, fraud and misrepresentation, and promissory estoppel. Jefferson also raised an affirmative defense in its Amended Answer and Counterclaim (the illegality of the Bank's actions) that was not addressed by the Bank in its motion for summary judgment or the District Court in its decision dismissing Jefferson's counterclaim.

B. Course of Proceedings

The Bank filed an action to foreclose two mortgages that were entered into by the Jefferson. The Bank filed a Motion for Summary Judgment requesting the District Court to enter judgment in its favor, or in the alternative, to grant Jefferson partial summary judgment on the grounds that there were no genuine issue of material fact and it should be entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law.

The Jefferson responded to the Motion with affidavits, depositions and memoranda of law. Following oral argument, the District Court granted the Motion, dismissed the Jefferson's Counterclaim and entered judgment in favor of the Bank. Thereafter, the Jefferson timely moved the Court for an order vacating the judgment and for reconsideration. The motion after briefing

¹ Designation of the parties used by the trial court I.A.R. 35(d)

and argument was denied. As a result Jefferson has appealed from the January 17, 2012, Memorandum Decision and Order; the January 17, 2012, Judgment, the April 19, 2012, Memorandum Decision and Order on Motion to Reconsider; the April 19, 2012, Decree of Foreclosure and Order of Sale; the April 19, 2012, Memorandum Decision and Order on Attorney Fees and Costs; and the April 19, 2012, Judgment Re: Attorney Fees & Costs.

C. Statement of Facts.

Dustin Morrison is the owner and managing member of Jefferson. Dustin Morrison is also the owner and managing member of American Dream Home Builders, LLC, an Idaho Limited Liability Company n/k/a ADHD, LLC. The LLC is in the business of developing residential subdivisions and constructing residential homes. Dustin Morrison is also the sole shareholder and officer of American Dream Construction, Inc. The corporation is in the business of developing residential subdivisions and constructing residential homes in conjunction with American Dream. Jefferson Enterprises and the other described entities are interrelated to the extent that their common financial ability to succeed is influenced by the ongoing projects, monetary reserves and credit worthiness of all of the entities.² The bank relied upon the financial relationship of Jefferson, Dustin Morrison, and the other related entities in its decision to loan money to Jefferson.

In May of 2005, Jefferson became the sole owner and managing member of Southern Hills Development Co., LLC. Southern Hills was the owner of an option to purchase real

² Depo. Worton pp. 18; Clerk's Record p. 396. Depo. M. Morrison pp. 45; Clerk's Record p. 333. The bank relied upon the financial relationship of Jefferson, Dustin Morrison, and the other related entities in its decision to loan money to Jefferson.

property which is referred to as the "Wood" parcel. Southern Hills was also the owner of a substantial portion of the 80 Acres, Inc., a subdivision of the City of Pocatello, Idaho (referred to as the "80 Acre" parcel). All of the rights, title and interest in Southern Hills and in the Wood and 80 Acre parcels were transferred to Jefferson.

The 80 Acre parcel was subject to a financing arrangement with exceptionally favorable terms and conditions. The terms of the financing included a very low interest rate that was capitalized into the note together with low annual payments.³ Jefferson assumed those favorable financial arrangements. According to Dustin Morrison "there was not one dollar incentive to pay that off one day early."⁴

In the early part of 2006, Jefferson negotiated with the Bank through one of its Vice Presidents, Steve Worton, for the purpose of the obtaining financing to exercise the option and to purchase the Wood property. Prior to the negotiations with the Bank, a "Master Plan" for development of the Southern Hills Project combining the Wood parcel and the 80 Acre parcel had been submitted and approved by the City of Pocatello. At the time, the plan was the largest single development in southeastern Idaho. At the time the loan was being negotiated with the Bank, an Annexation Agreement was being negotiated between Morrison and the City of Pocatello. Among other things, the Annexation Agreement provided for utilities, sewer and the joint development of a water system that included at least two large water storage tanks. Compliance with the terms of the Master Plan and the Annexation Agreement obligated Jefferson to spend millions of dollars to comply and complete the development. Jefferson and the related entities spent large sums of money for the 80 Acre property acquisition, engineering,

³ Depo. Worton Ex. 21; Clerk's Record p. 418

⁴ Depo. D. Morrison pp. 28-29; Clerk's Record p. 459

⁵ Depo. D. Morrison, p.25; Clerk's Record p. 458

surveying, preparation of plats and other actions necessary to obtain the Annexation Agreement and the approval of the City of Pocatello for the Southern Hills Master Plan.⁶

A loan proposal was submitted by the Morrisons and Jefferson to the Bank for the purpose of funding the purchase of the Wood property. The deadline to exercise the option to purchase the property was May 10, 2006. The owner of the property was not willing to extend the option past the deadline. In the event the option was not exercised and the Wood property not purchased, Jefferson would not be able to develop the Southern Hills Project and the expenditures described above would be lost. Wood had extended the option on two other occasions but refused any further extensions.⁷

The loan proposal included volumes of documents relating to the Southern Hills Project together with tax returns, financial analysis, appraisals, and projected profits. Interestingly the Bank accepted the Jefferson documents and treated the same as the loan application.⁸

The application provided that the Bank's position would be subject to the 80 Acre mortgage. Some time prior to May 8, 2006, Steve Worton, on behalf of the Bank, informed Jefferson that the loan pertaining to the Southern Hills Project had been approved by the Bank. The only variance from the written request made by Jefferson was that the amount of the loan would be reduced to approximately \$2,200,000.00 and the term of the loan would be for one year. The Bank's communicated approval specifically recognized the written application made by Jefferson which provided, among other things, that the Bank would have a second mortgage on the 80 Acre parcel. The acceptance of the application on the stated basis preserved the favorable financing arrangement enjoyed by Jefferson as well as leaving intact other liquid assets of

⁶ Depo. D. Morrison. p. 25. 26; Clerk's Record p. 458-159

⁷ Depo. D. Morrison. pp. 32-33; Clerk's Record p. 492

⁸ Depo. p. Worton p. 19; Clerk's Record p. 394

Jefferson, the related entities and the Morrisons. The liquid assets were needed for the completion of the Southern Hills project and to fund other ongoing real estate developments of the other related entities.⁹

The Bank recognized the financial interrelationship of Jefferson to the other business entities of the Morrisons combining the financial information to determine debt to asset ratios, capacity and working capital. Based upon the written application, the Bank, through Steve Worton, acknowledged acceptance. Jefferson had a clear understanding that the new loan from the Bank would be subordinate to the existing 1st mortgage on the 80 Acre parcel. Jefferson accepted the modified terms and discontinued the pursuit of other financing options with DL Evans Bank. Following the communication of acceptance from the Bank and less than 48 hours prior to the time the option on the Wood parcel was to expire, the Bank changed its position and demanded that it be placed in a first lien position on the 80 Acre parcel. Jefferson was facing the prospect of catastrophic loss if the Wood option was not exercised. Jefferson was compelled by the wrongful acts of the Bank at the last hour to use substantially all of its liquid assets and the liquid assets of the related entities to pay off the obligation on the 80 Acre parcel thereby placing the Bank's mortgage in a first lien position on the property.

The Bank admits that its actions impacted the financial ability of Jefferson and the other related businesses to continue their operations by consuming its liquid financial capacity to continue the project or obtain additional investment to complete the project. The Bank's procedures required that the financial ability of a borrower such as Jefferson be analyzed to determine if it would qualify for the loan. The Bank in its deposition explained the scope of the

⁹ Depo. Wake pp.23-24; Clerk's Record p. 427

analysis. 10 Jefferson's combined financial information met the lending criteria of the Bank based upon the assumption that the capacity and working capital would not be reduced. However, when the Bank demanded that Jefferson use its working capital to pay off the 80 Acre mortgage the financial ability of Jefferson to service the loan was compromised. Under these circumstances the Bank would not have approved the loan. 11

Jefferson's loss in liquidity capacity and working capital was caused by the Bank's breach of the agreement to lend leaving the favorable 80 Acre financing in place with its insistence on being in first position of 80 Acre parcel. The breach caused damages to Jefferson's credit worthiness and stifled Jefferson's ability to attract other investment in the property 12. As a further inducement Worton represented that the Bank would not let Jefferson fail and would provide a means to replace the loss of working capital and financial ability. (D. Morrison Depo. pp. 70-73.)

The representation by the Bank through Worton was made prior to the time the loan was to close and the time the Wood parcel was to be purchased. Worton induced Jefferson to follow this course of action by misrepresenting that the Bank would not let Jefferson fail and would provide additional financing. The Bank refused to provide any additional financing to Jefferson for the completion of the Southern Hills Project. As a result of the Bank's blatant deviation from its own policies and procedures and commonly recognized lending standards and other wrongful conduct, Jefferson lost the ability to take advantage of foreseeable prospective economic opportunities related to the 80 Acre parcel, the Southern Hills Project and other real estate developments.

Depo. M. Morrison pp.64-69; Clerk's Record p. 352-358
 Depo. Worton p. 73; Clerk's Record p. 409

¹² Depo. D. Morrison p. 77-78; Clerk's Record p 440-441

II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL.

A. The District Court erred in granting the Motion for Summary Judgment dismissing the Counterclaim of Jefferson in that establish:

- 1. There are disputed material issues of fact and issues of law that show the Plaintiff breached its contract with Jefferson;
 - 2. The Bank intentionally interfered with a prospective economic advantage of Jefferson;
 - 3. The Bank's action was barred by the doctrine of promissory estoppel;
 - 5. The Bank committed fraud and misrepresentation;
 - 4. That Jefferson was damaged by the actions of the Bank;
- 5. The District Court's determinations dismissing the affirmative defenses raised by the Jefferson on the Bank's Motion for Summary judgment were erroneous and not based upon substantial evidence.
- 6. The District Court erred in determining that the Bank's Mortgage should be foreclosed in that there are disputed materials of fact that would have precluded the entry of summary judgment allowing the foreclosure.

B. Request for Attorney Fees as an Issue on Appeal.

1. Plaintiff requests an award of reasonable attorney fees pursuant to the provisions of I.C.§12-120(3) and I.A.R. Rule 41.

III. ARGUMENT.

A. Standard of Review.

On appeal from the grant of a motion for summary judgment, this Court utilizes the same standard of review used by the district court originally ruling on the motion. Shawver v. Huckleberry Estates, LLC, 140 Idaho 354, 360, 93 P.3d 685, 691 (2004). Summary judgment is proper "if the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." I.R.C.P. 56(c). Movant has the burden of showing that no genuine issues of material fact exist. Stoddart v. Pocatello Sch. Dist. No. 25, 149 Idaho 679, 683. 239 P.3d 784, 788 (2010). This Court "liberally construe[s] the record in a light most favorable to the party opposing the motion, drawing all reasonable inferences in favor of that party." When ruling on a motion for summary judgment, disputed facts are to be construed liberally in favor of the non-moving party, and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn from the record are to be drawn in favor of the non-moving party. Summary judgment is appropriate only if the pleadings. depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact. When the record shows the existence of genuine and material issues of fact and the record contains conflicting inferences or if reasonable minds might reach different conclusions the moving party is not entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. Fazzio v. Mason, 150 Idaho 591, 249 P.3d 390 (Idaho, 2011). Summary judgment is appropriate "if the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." I.R.C.P. 56(c). Disputed facts and reasonable inferences are construed in favor of the non-moving party. Estate of Becker v. Callahan, 140 Idaho 522, 525. 96 P.3d 623, 626 (2004).

The court is not permitted to make conclusive findings with regard to issues upon which the parties submit conflicting evidence. See Williams v. Computer Res., Inc., 123 Idaho 671, 673, 851 P.2d 967, 969 (1993) (holding that the trial court was not permitted to draw inferences regarding the parties' intent when the parties submitted conflicting evidence on the issue); Ashby v. Hubbard, 100 Idaho 67, 70, 593 P.2d 402, 405 (1979) (holding that a question involving the "intention expressed by the acts and statements of the parties" was a factual question for the jury); Argyle v. Slemaker, 107 Idaho 668, 670-71, 691 P.2d 1283, 1285-86 (Ct. App. 1984) (holding that findings based on conflicting evidence may only be made on summary judgment when "the evidence is entirely confined to a written record, there is no additional, in-court testimony to be obtained, and the trial judge alone will be responsible for choosing the evidentiary facts he deems most probable"). [W]hen a party moves for summary judgment, the initial burden of establishing the absence of a genuine issue of material fact rests with that party. Tingley v. Harrison, 125 Idaho 86, 89, 867 P.2d 960, 963 (1994) ("The burden of proving the absence of a material fact rests at all times upon the moving party."); See also Harris v. State. Dep't. of Health & Welfare, 123 Idaho 295, 298, 847 P.2d 1156, 1159 (1992); McCov v. Lyons. 120 Idaho 765, 769, 820 P.2d 360, 364 (1991); G & M Farms v. Funk Irrigation Co., 119 Idaho 514, 517, 808 P.2d 851, 854 (1991). Thus, it follows that if the moving party fails to challenge an element of the nonmovant's case, the initial burden placed on the moving party has not been met and therefore does not shift to the nonmovant.

The admissibility of evidence contained in affidavits and depositions in support of or in opposition to a motion for summary judgment is a threshold matter to be addressed by the court before applying the liberal construction and reasonable inferences rule to determine whether the evidence creates a genuine issue of material fact for trial. *Gem State Ins. Co. v. Hutchison*, 145

Idaho 10, 13, 175 P.3d 172, 175 (2007) (citing Carnell v. Barker Mgmt., Inc., 137 Idaho 322, 327. 48 P.3d 651, 656 (2002)). "This Court applies an abuse of discretion standard when reviewing a trial court's determination of the admissibility of testimony offered in connection with a motion for summary judgment." Id. at 15, 175 P.3d at 177 (citing McDaniel v. Inland Northwest Renal Care Group–Idaho, LLC, 144 Idaho 219, 221, 159 P.3d 856, 858 (2007)). "A trial court does not abuse its discretion if it (1) correctly perceives the issue as discretionary, (2) acts within the bounds of discretion and applies the correct legal standards, and (3) reaches the decision through an exercise of reason." O'Connor v. Harger Constr., Inc., 145 Idaho 904, 909, 188 P.3d 846, 851 (2008) (citing West Wood Invs., Inc. v. Acord, 141 Idaho 75, 82, 106 P.3d 401, 408 (2005)); Gerdon v. Rydalch, 153 Idaho 237, 280 P.3d 740, (2012).

B. Breach of Contract.

The District Court determined that Jefferson's claim for breach of contract was barred by operation of the "Statute of Frauds" The District Court in its Memorandum Decision and order specifically found as follows: "This Court has also accepted as true that the conditions of the loan agreement provided, among other things, that the Bank would be secured on the 80 Acre parcel in a second priority position. In addition, this Court accepted as true that Jefferson had made application for a loan in the amount of \$2,800,000 from the Bank." The Bank agreed to loan money to Jefferson in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Board's approval of Jefferson's loan application. The conditions of the loan agreement provided, among other things, that the Bank would be secured on the 80 Acre parcel in a second lien priority position

¹³L C 8 5-905

¹⁴ Memorandum Decision and Order on Motion to Reconsider p. 5; Clerk's Record p. 722

subject to the existing advantageous financing on the parcel. The Mortgage prepared by the Bank with and effective date of May 9, 2006 specifically provided that:

"6. WARRANTY OF TITLE. Mortgagor covenants that Mortgager is lawfully seized of the estate conveyed by this Mortgage and has the right to grant, bargain, convey, sell and mortgage this Property and warrants that the Property is unencumbered except for encumbrances of record.

* * *

- 8. PRIOR SECURITY INTERESTS. With regard to any other mortgage, deed of trust, security agreement or other lien document that created a security interest on encumbrance on the Property and that may have priority over this Mortgage, Mortgagor agrees:
- A. To make all payments when due and to perform or comply with all covenants.
- B. To promptly deliver to Lender any notices that the Mortgagor receives from the holder.
- C. Not make or permit any modification or extension of, and not request or accept any future advances under any note or agreement secured by, the other mortgage, deed of trust or security agreement unless Lender consents in writing". ¹⁵

Jefferson accepted the Bank's Mortgage and the material terms, including the second priority position, became binding on the Bank. Therefore, based upon the factual findings of the District Court, a written agreement (the Mortgage) existed and was effective on May 9, 2006. The Mortgage provided that encumbrances of record, such as the 80 Acre encumbrance, would have priority over the lien of the Bank's Mortgage. The District Court, even though there was substantial evidence in the record to the contrary, disposed of the breach of contract count based upon the Statute of Frauds. The District Courts determination that the statute of frauds barred recovery, taking into account the factual finding referred to in this brief, is clearly erroneous and unsupported.

The agreement found to exist by the District Court, by operation of law, contains the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing together with the requirements, established

¹⁵ Mortgage Clerk's Transcript p. 14

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