# UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-30-2012

# Bank of Commerce v. Jefferson Enterprises Respondent's Brief Dckt. 40034

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

# V. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Adjudication and Review

In Finholt v. Cresto, 143 Idaho 894, 896, 155 P.3d 695, 697 (2007), the Idaho Supreme

Court stated:

This Court's review of the district court's ruling on a motion for summary judgment is the same as that required of the district court when ruling on the motion.... Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings, depositions, admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. I.R.C.P. 56(c).

(citations omitted.)

"A mere scintilla of evidence or only slight doubt as to the facts is not sufficient to create

a genuine issue of material fact for the purposes of summary judgment." Id.

The moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law when the nonmoving party has failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of its case with respect to which it has the burden of proof. *See Dunnick v. Elder*, 126 Idaho 308, 312, 882 P.2d 475, 479 (Ct. App. 1994) (*citing Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 322-23, 106 S.Ct. 2548, 2552, 91 L.Ed.2d 265 (1986)).

#### **B.** Breach of Contract

# 1. Mortgage

In its Appellant's Brief, Jefferson now argues that the Mortgage, which was prepared by

the Bank on May 9, 2006, was a written agreement that provided that encumbrances of record,

such as the Eighty Acre encumbrance, would have priority over the lien of the Bank's Mortgage.

This argument fails for several reasons. First, it was not raised below, but is being raised for the first time on appeal.

"To properly raise an issue on appeal there must either be an adverse ruling by the eourt below or the issue must have been raised in the court below, an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal." *McPheters v. Maile*, 138 Idaho 391, 397, 64 P.3d 317, 323 (2003) (citation omitted). Since this issue was not raised below, this Court will not consider this issue on appeal.

Garner v. Bartschi, 139 Idaho 430, 436, 80 P.3d 1031, 1037 (2003).

Second, although the Mortgage was prepared by the Bank on May 9, 2006, it was not signed by Dustin and his wife, Sonya, until closing on May 10, 2006, by which time Dustin had already paid off the Eighty Acre encumbrance. R. at Vol I, p. 240, D. Morrison Depo. Tr., p. 33, ll. 2-7; Vol I, p. 185, Aff. Worton, ¶ 11. Therefore, at the time the Mortgage was signed on May **RESPONDENT'S BRIEF** Page - 10 10, 2012, the Eighty Acre encumbrance was no longer an encumbrance of record.

Third, Dustin testified that he had not received any precommitment in writing that the Bank would take a second position in the Eighty Acre Parcel. R. at Vol I, p. 248-49, D. Morrison Depo. Tr., p. 64, ll. 1-13 and p. 67, ll. 9-13. Ultimately, Dustin decided that he would accept the terms that the Bank offered and close the loan by paying off the Eighty Acre loan and placing the Bank in first position on the Eighty Acres. R. at Vol I, p. 250 & 256, D. Morrison Depo. Tr., p. 73, ll. 20-22, p.95, ll. 6-8. Therefore, the Mortgage cannot be construed as any precommitment, but was rather part of the ultimate loan agreement, under which the Bank received a first lien position on the Eighty Acre Parcel.

Fourth, the Mortgage cannot be an agreement to loan money on the terms that Jefferson is claiming, in particular that the Bank would take a second lien position on the Eighty Acre Parcel, because the Mortgage was not subscribed by the Bank. *See* the Statute of Frauds (I.C. § 9-505).

This new argument that the Mortgage, signed by Dustin and Sonya on May 10, 2006, could somehow be an agreement that the Bank would take a second lien position in the Eighty Acre Parcel is not only raised for the first time on appeal, but it is not supported by any of the facts in the record.

#### 2. Statute of Frauds

Jefferson claims that the Bank agreed to loan money to Jefferson in accordance with the terms and conditions of the loan application, including the condition that the Bank would be secured on the Eighty Acre Parcel by taking a second lien position. Even when construing the **RESPONDENT'S BRIEF** Page - 11

evidence in favor of Jefferson, the evidence does not support the breach of contract claim.

Idaho Code § 9-505, which is referred to as the Statute of Frauds, requires that a promise or commitment to loan \$50,000 or more must not only be in writing, but must also be subscribed by the alleged lender. There is no evidence that either requirement was met in the present case.

Section 9-505 provides, in part, as follows:

In the following cases the agreement is invalid, unless the same or some note or memorandum thereof, be in writing and subscribed by the party charged, or by his agent. Evidence, therefore, of the agreement cannot be received without the writing or secondary evidence of its contents:

•••

5. A promise or commitment to lend money or to grant or extend credit in an original principal amount of fifty thousand dollars (\$50,000) or more, made by a person or entity engaged in the business of lending money or extending credit.

In *Lettunich v. Key Bank Nat. Ass 'n*, 141 Idaho 362, 109 P.3d 1104 (2005), Lettunich brought a claim against Key Bank for breach of an alleged oral agreement to loan him money. Lettunich had approached Key Bank to negotiate a loan package to purchase real property, cattle and an operating loan. Lettunich met with Key Bank's relationship manager, Brian Faulks, to explain the nature of his cattle operations and the type of financing he needed. The proposed financing package included three separate loans, each in excess of \$50,000. Faulks sent Lettunich three written loan commitments. Lettunich signed the three loan commitments, but Key Bank never signed them. Lettunich bought cattle at a court-ordered sale on April 26, 2000, as he believed he was going to receive the three loans from Key Bank. On the evening of the

first day of the sale of cattle, Lettunich asked Faulks if he should continue to purchase cattle when the sale resumed the following day. Faulks encouraged Lettunich to keep buying the cattle and assured Lettunich that Key Bank would fund a term loan and operating line. Based on that representation, Lettunich continued buying cattle, ultimately purchasing over \$400,000 in Angus cows. Thereafter, Key Bank refused to fund the cattle term loan and operating line of credit. Lettunich sued Key Bank for breach of an oral agreement, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing and fraud. The district court granted Key Bank summary judgment on the grounds that Lettunich's claims were barred by the statute of frauds. The Idaho Supreme Court affirmed the summary judgment. The Supreme Court recognized that each of the three loans negotiated by Lettunich exceeded \$50,000. The Supreme Court stated:

Lettunich argues there was an oral agreement between the parties. Viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to Lettunich, even if we infer there was an oral agreement between the parties at least as far as loaning money to purchase cattle, the oral agreement is invalid because it clearly violates I.C. § 9–505(5)....

*Id.* at 367, 109 P.3d at 1109.

In the present case, Dustin testified:

Q. Now, back to this idea of, as you called it, kind of a precommitment given to you in writing?

A. There was nothing given to me in writing.

Q. So this precommitment idea that you are referring to again related to what you claim Steve Worton told you?

A. Everything was related to what Steve Worton told me because there wasn't one think in writing, nothing. There wasn't an approval in writing,

there wasn't a list of conditions in writing, contingencies in writing. There wasn't a formal request in writing. Nothing was in writing.

R. at Vol. I, p. 248, D. Morrison Depo. Tr., p. 64, ll. 1-13.

Q. Nothing in writing that said that the bank would take a second position in that property.

A. No.

R. at Vol. I, p. 249, D. Morrison Depo. Tr., p. 67, ll. 11-13.

Jefferson requested a \$2.8 million loan and ultimately received a \$2.2 million loan. Because the alleged promise to lend money involved a loan much greater than \$50,000, the Statute of Frauds governs Jefferson's breach of contract claim. In his deposition, Dustin admitted there was no written precommitment to loan Jefferson the money nor to take a second position in the Eighty Acre Parcel. As there was no such written precommitment, there logically was no such writing that was subscribed by the Bank or any of its agents. Because there was no such written and signed agreement, there can be no breach.

#### 3. No Consideration Paid for the Alleged Oral Precommitment to Loan

Not only did the alleged commitment not comply with the Statute of Frauds, there was no consideration (commitment fee) to support a loan commitment, and therefore, no breach of any loan commitment.

In *D & M Dev. Co., Inc., v. Sherwood and Roberts, Inc.,* 93 Idaho 200, 457 P.2d 439 (1969), the Idaho Supreme Court discussed the use of a commitment fee to secure the right to later borrow money. In that case, the Idaho Supreme Court held that a commitment fee was not **RESPONDENT'S BRIEF** Page - 14

interest and therefore did not violate the then-applicable usury statute. D & M Development Company had paid \$56,250 as consideration for receiving three written loan commitments. The Court noted that "By the issuance of the three commitment letters, respondent was guaranteed the ability to borrow the rather large sum of money involved at a later date at a specific interest rate for a specific term." *Id.* at 206, 457 P.2d at 445. Additionally, the Court quoted *Prather, Mortgage Loans and the Usuary Laws,* 16 Bus. Lawyer 181 (Nov., 1960), which states: "The commitment fee buys a commitment; the fee paid is not 'for the use of money,' but for the privilege later of actually borrowing the money. It is an option, not a loan."

In *Lowe v. Massachusetts Mutual Life Ins. Co.*, 54 Cal.App.3d 718 (1976), the California Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's finding that a commitment agreement constituted an option. The "trial court expressly found that under the terms of the commitment letter defendant was contractually obligated to lend \$4,700,000 upon the applicant-assignor's compliance with the conditions stated in the letter of commitment". *Id.* at 724. The California Court of Appeals stated:

'An option, when supported by consideration, ... is a Right acquired by contract to accept or reject a present offer within a limited time in the future....' 'It is universally accepted that an option agreement is a contract distinct from the contract to which the option relates, since it does not bind the optionee to perform or enter into the contract upon the terms specified in the option."...

# Id. at 725.

In *Justad v. Ward*, 147 Idaho 509, 512, 211 P.3d 118, 121 (2009), the Idaho Supreme Court discussed the particular characteristics of an option contract, as follows:

Formation of a valid contract requires a meeting of the minds as evidenced by a manifestation of mutual intent to contract. *Inland Title Co. v. Comstock*, 116 Idaho 701, 703, 779 P.2d 15, 17 (1989). This manifestation takes the form of an offer followed by an acceptance. *Id.* An option contract is an offer that, upon sufficient consideration, may not be revoked for an agreed upon amount of time. *See* 17A Am.Jur.2d *Contracts* § 53 (2d ed.2008). An acceptance of an option is an expression by the offeree that accepts the offer in accordance with the terms of the offer. *See* IDJI 6.05.2. The acceptance is not complete until it has been communicated to the offeror. *Id.* Acceptance of an offer must be unequivocal. *Huyett v. Idaho State Univ.*, 140 Idaho 904, 909, 104 P.3d 946, 951 (2004). Generally, silence and inaction does not constitute acceptance. 17A Am.Jur.2d *Contracts* § 98 (2d ed.2008). More specifically:

Because assent to an offer that is required for the formation of a contract is an act of the mind, it may either be expressed by words or evidenced by circumstances from which such assent may be inferred, such as the making of payments or the acceptance of benefits. Anything that amounts to a manifestation of a formed determination to accept, and is communicated or put in the proper way to be communicated to the party making the offer, completes a contract.

A response to an offer amounts to an acceptance if an objective, reasonable person is justified in understanding that a fully enforceable contract has been made, even if the offeree subjectively does not intend to be legally bound. This objective standard takes into account both what the offeree said, wrote, or did and the transactional context in which the offeree verbalized or acted.

17A Am.Jur.2d Contracts § 91 (2d ed.2008).

In its Amended Counterclaim, Jefferson claims that the Bank initially committed to lend

it money pursuant to Jefferson's loan application, including the taking of a second lien position

on the Eighty Acre Parcel, but that the Bank later breached that commitment when it insisted on

receiving a first lien position on the Eighty Acre Parcel. See Amended Counterclaim, ¶¶ 10, 11,

17 and 19.

However, these allegations are not supported by the facts. In his deposition, Dustin testified as follows:

Q. Whenever it was, were you at that point committed to accept that loan from the Bank of Commerce?

- A. Yes.
- Q. So you had to accept the loan?

A. In a practical sense, yes, because I had to perform by a certain date, and I hadn't been pursing a loan with anybody else.

Q. But I am saying legally were you obligated –

- A. No.
- Q. You weren't obligated to accept the loan that the bank gave you.

A. Not legally; ...

R. at Vol. I, p. 249, D. Morrison Depo. Tr., p. 67, l. 18 to p. 68, l. 4

Q. But you understand that the decision, whether the bank agrees to loan money or not, that's a decision they have; correct?

A. Yes.

Q. They are not obligated to accept your proposal just because it's your proposal, are they?

A. No,...

R. at Vol. I, p. 250, D. Morrison Depo. Tr., p. 70, ll. 7 to 13.

Q. But you wanted 2.8 million as well; right?

A. Yes.

Q. And you realize that what you want and what a lender may eventually approve are not always the same thing?

A. Absolutely....

R. at Vol. I, p. 249, D. Morrison Depo. Tr., p. 70, l. 24 to p. 71, l. 2.

Q. I'm saying did Jefferson Enterprises pay the bank any loan fee prior to closing?

A. Not that I'm aware of.

R. at Vol. I, p. 253, D. Morrison Depo. Tr., p. 83, 11. 7-9

Q. At that time you had this preapproval. Did you pay something to the Bank of Commerce to hold that preapproval open?

A. You have asked that four times. No money was paid prior to the loan fee. Nobody ever paid for a preapproval to a bank.

Q. What was your understanding of the point in time that Jefferson Enterprises became obligated to the terms of the loan as offered by the Bank of Commerce?

A. Legally the day we signed papers.

R. at Vol. I, p. 253, D. Morrison Depo. Tr., p. 85, ll. 13-22.

From Dustin's own testimony, it is clear that there was no consideration paid for any loan

preapproval or for any loan commitment. Dustin also testified that no such loan preapproval or

loan commitment was in writing. The Bank had not given Jefferson any kind of option contract

prior to closing and the loan agreement did not become binding on the parties until it was entered

into by both parties at the closing on May 10, 2006.

#### 4. No Evidence that the Bank Ever Agreed to a Second Lien Position on the Eighty Acres

Furthermore, there is no evidence the Bank entered into any kind of commitment to loan money based on Jefferson's application for the loan. More specifically, there is no evidence the Bank agreed to only take a second position on the Eighty Acre Parcel.

Dustin knew that Worton did not have the authority to approve the loan that Jefferson was requesting. R. at Vol. I, p. 258-59, D. Morrison Depo. Tr. p. 105, l. 24 to p. 106, l. 1. In fact, any loan over \$250,000.00 had to be approved by the officers and directors of the Bank in a formal meeting. R. at Vol. I, p. 175, Aff. Romrell. ¶ 7. The May 9, 2006, meeting of the officers and directors of the Bank was the only time Jefferson's loan request was presented to the officers and directors of the Bank. R. at Vol. I, p. 175, Aff. Romrell ¶ 6. It was never presented at any prior meeting of the officers and directors of the Bank. R. at Vol. I, p. 175, Aff. Romrell ¶ 6. It was never presented at any prior meeting of the officers and directors of the Bank. Id. Therefore, despite Dustin's belief that the Bank had given him a precommitment to loan him the money while agreeing to take a second position in the Eighty Acre Parcel, there is no evidence that the Bank ever offered or approved any such precommitment.

Because the evidence does not support any loan commitment prior to closing, there cannot be any breach of such a loan commitment. Therefore, this Court should affirm the District Court's summary judgment dismissing Jefferson's breach of contract claim.

# C. Intentional Interference with a Prospective Economic Advantage

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